RECEIVED

11-14-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 17AP001723CR

Milwaukee County Cir. Court Case No. 2013CF0569

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KEITH J. BROOKS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, SENTENCE, AND THE DECISION AND ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED BY BRANCH 25, MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE STEPHANIE ROTHSTEIN PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

URSZULA TEMPSKA State Bar No. 1041496 Law Office of U. Tempska P.O. Box 11213 Shorewood, WI 53211 414-640-5542 U_tempska@yahoo.com Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. WHETHER DEFENSE COUNSELS WERE CONSTITUTIONALLY INEFFECTIVE

The postconviction court answered: no.

II. WHETHER THE JURY INSTRUCTION DEFINING THE STATE'S BURDEN OF PROOF REDUCED SUCH BURDEN BELOW THAT MANDATED FOR CRIMINAL PROSECUTIONS.

The postconviction court answered: no

III. WHETHER THE JURY INSTRUCTION DEFINING THE STATE'S BURDEN OF PROOF CONFUSED THE JURY.

The postconviction court answered: no.

IV. WHETHER THE JURY INSTRUCTION DEFINING THE STATE'S BURDEN OF PROOF MISSTATED THE LAW.

The postconviction court answered: no.

V. WHETHER NEW TRIAL IS WARRANTED IN THE INTEREST OF JUSTICE BECAUSE THE TRUE CONTROVERSY WAS NOT FULLY TRIED

The postconviction court answered: no.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The relevant facts and the legal issues, positions, and arguments of this appeal should be exhaustively presented in this Brief and the Appendix.

Counsel requests oral argument, if needed to address this Court's outstanding questions or otherwise aid decisionmaking.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Publication may be warranted pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.23, so this Court's published opinion could:

- correct a constitutional error in Wisconsin's criminal jury instruction defining the State's burden of proof; and
- correct and prevent ineffectiveness of defense counsel stemming from erroneous understanding of the law, defective strategizing, and defective execution of defense theories.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal seeks vacatur of Brooks' convictions on due process grounds and in the interest of justice.

Brooks was charged with one count of first degree intentional homicide, use of a dangerous weapon; and one count of misdemeanor battery. (1). The charges stemmed from the death of Brooks' wife, A.B., from a gunshot wound to the head. A. B. died in the couple's home, after prolonged

turbulent clashes between the spouses, in which Brooks was angry and verbally/emotionally abusive. Id. ¹

This was a multi-day trial. (135, 136, 137, 138, 139, 140, 141, 142).

Based on various forensic evidence, evidence of A.B.'s destroyed property, Brooks' self-filmed interrogations of his wife, and Brooks' spontaneous statements to investigators detailing the couple's arguments (admitted through the investigators), the prosecution argued that Brooks killed A.B. in a domestic violence spree, which progressed from verbal abuse to destroying A.B.'s property, to destroying her relationships, to hitting her, and finally killing her. (See e.g. 140:15-17 (video played); 141:30, 32-34, 40-42, 47-48) (closing summary of evidence and argument)).

Three Milwaukee medical examiners testified that the autopsy and other forensic evidence allowed the conclusion that the bullet was fired from an "intermediate distance" and A.B. died from "homicide." (See e.g. 139:5-117; 140:70-132).

To support that A.B. did not kill herself, the State presented testimony of friends and family: about her future plans; creative, life-loving disposition; and motherly love. (139: 238-290).

Two highly experienced public defenders served as Brooks' counsels: Deborah Vishny and J.C. Moore.

¹ The couple's young daughter was at the apartment when A.B. died, but did not witness the death. Nothing in this appeal addresses or concerns the child.

The defense theory was that Brooks' abuse had "pushed [A.B.] over the edge" to suicide. (See e.g. 141: 49, 61, 74).

The defense presented rebuttal forensic evidence via expert testimony stating that sub-standard, unreliable methodologies were used during the autopsy, but reliable testing was not done; that the autopsy report was unreliable; and that physical data indicated that the bullet was fired from an "indeterminate" distance consistent with suicide. (See e.g. 139:173-237).

To support the suicide theory, the defense presented medical records of A.B.'s prior mental health struggles, including anxiety and depression. This evidence showed that A.B. had attempted suicide at college and subsequently – a few years before her death — had mental health diagnoses for which she was prescribed antidepressants and anti-anxiety medications, but was not taking them in January 2013. (139:206-211). The evidence showed that Brooks knew of A.B.'s prior suicide attempt and continuing mental health-based fragility. (See e.g. 141:49, 61-64, 74).

The defense also presented Brooks' voluntary statements to investigators (through investigators) describing how A.B. shot herself, insisting Brooks did not shoot her, and relaying the fighting that preceded the death. See e.g. 138:10-16, 20-21, 30-32.

Overall, evidence existed to support both theories: homicide and suicide.

After receiving the standard Wis. JI—Criminal 140 instruction ("J.I.140") and lesser included instruction on 1st degree reckless homicide, (141:18-21, 25-27), the jury found Brooks guilty of reckless homicide, (65, 66, 52).

For the homicide Brooks was sentenced to 40 years initial confinement and 20 years extended supervision. (65). He timely filed a Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief. (67). ²

In postconviction court Brooks argued, inter alia, that his counsels were ineffective in implementing the theory of defense so that it enabled, thus precipitated or caused, conviction of reckless homicide. (102:7-11).

Brooks also sought new trial on the grounds that the jury instruction defining the State's burden of proof misstated the law, confused the jurors, and impermissibly lowered the standard to something closer to "beyond reasonable doubt," (102:12-16); and in the interest of justice, (102:16-17).

After a *Machner* hearing at which Brooks and both counsels testified, postconviction relief on the issue of counsels' ineffectiveness related to jury instructions was denied for reasons stated on the record. (144:112-120; App.112-120; 123: App. 122).

The remaining claims for relief were denied in a Decision and Order Granting Evidentiary Hearing on Counsel's Request for Lesser Included Jury Instructions and

² Once convicted, Brooks first sought postconviction discovery, but was denied after court-ordered briefing. (77, 79, 81, 82, 83). His petition for leave to appeal the denial was denied. (85, 88). He then filed a Motion for Postconviction Relief and a Supplemental Motion for Postconviction Relief. (96, 98). Because such motions cumulatively exceeded the page/length limit allowed by the local rules, Brooks withdrew the two motions and filed -- as replacement -- the Amended Motion for Postconviction Relief (hereafter "Amended Motion"). (102). All arguments in this appeal rely on, and address, Brooks' claims in the Amended Motion.

Denying Remainder of Motion for Postconviction Relief. (110:14-22) (App. 2-10).

This appeal seeks to correct compounded due process errors underlying Brooks' convictions: defense counsels' ineffectiveness and the due process-violating jury instruction J.I.-140, which presented for the jury's use a standard of proof lower than that mandated for criminal prosecution. Vacatur is also sought in the interest of justice.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Brooks and A.B. had met in Arkansas when she was in college. They married and had a daughter. To gain steady income and better job prospects, Brooks joined the Army and was deployed to Afghanistan, where he worked in intelligence collecting. While Brooks was deployed, A.B. stayed in the U.S., eventually returning to Milwaukee. She found work and lived with her daughter. The marriage was often strained. During deployment, the spouses' communications were difficult and adversarial. Brooks had difficulty adjusting to his deployment situation, in part because of the strain with A.B. On one occasion he ingested pills and alcohol, and passed out at the base. He was ultimately transferred to an Army medical facility in the States, for mental health treatment. Brooks was diagnosed with PTSD, major depression, and anxiety, and was prescribed medications. Brooks then ultimately joined A.B. and the child in Milwaukee. The three had co-habited for several months by the time A.B. shot herself. ³ (137:119-130).

³ Those medical diagnoses and treatments were presented to the jury through Brooks' recorded custodial statements (summarized and played to the jury) and through testimony about Brooks' medications at the scene. See also 138:96 (D.A. in closing reminding the jury about a

On 1/27/2013, Brooks called 911 just before 1 a.m., extremely distraught, to report that his wife had just shot herself.⁴ (See e.g. 141:56-58 (summarizing evidence from the 911 call)). When the police arrived, Brooks, still distraught, spontaneously talked to the officers. After being later arrested and *Mirandized*, Brooks (not seeking counsel) had several long interviews with detectives. In all his statements Brooks insisted that A.B. had grasped the gun, raised it to her head, and pulled the trigger. He lunged to intervene, but to no avail. (See e.g. 141:54-60) (summarizing evidence of Brooks' conduct and spontaneous statements after arrest, presented through police officers)).

Brooks spontaneously recounted that for days before A.B.'s death the couple had fought intensely; that he had been suspicious and angry due to A.B.'s self-admitted infidelities and lies; that he vengefully destroyed A.B.'s property, brutally "interrogated" her (and filmed such "interrogations") and told her to kill herself; that the evening of A.B.'s death he decided to leave and started packing; and that he had rebuffed and hit A.B. moments before she picked up and fired the gun. (1; 136:110; 137:126-127, 163-169).

In the 911 call, played to the jury, Brooks sounds frantic and distraught: begging for help, trying to administer

[&]quot;bag of drugs siting on the bed [and belonging to Brooks] at the time he was leaving" A.B. and his diagnoses of "mood adjustment disorder, anxiety, PTSD").

⁴ The couple's young daughter was present at the apartment, but did not witness the shooting, death, or Brooks' efforts to revive A.B. Nothing in this postconviction motion concerns the daughter.

⁵ Still at the scene, Brooks also volunteered that he had been growing marijuana and had disposed of the plants before the police arrived. He admitted he had mental health issues and had been prescribed medications, but instead was self-mediating with THC. (137:122, 171).

CPR according to instructions, wailing and throwing up; as well as pleading with and expostulating against A.B., e.g.: "Why did you do it?," and "You selfish bitch," and "Baby, I love you." (See e.g. 141:58).

Additional facts are reported below, as needed to support the arguments.

ARGUMENT

I. DEFENSE COUNSELS WERE CONSTITUTIONALLY INEFFECTIVE

A. Standard of review

This Court reviews ineffective assistance claims as a mixed question of law and fact. *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶21, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305. The circuit court's findings of fact will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.* Findings of fact include "the circumstances of the case and the counsel's conduct and strategy." *Id.* (citation omitted). Whether a given set of facts constitutes ineffective assistance is a question of law, which this Court reviews de novo. *Id.*

B. The legal standards

To succeed on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, Brooks must show that counsel's performance was deficient and the deficiency prejudiced his defense. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). Counsel's performance is deficient when it falls below objective standards of reasonableness. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88; *State v. McMahon*, 186 Wis. 2d 68, 80, 519 N.W.2d 621 (Ct. App. 1994). To establish prejudice Brooks must show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the trial's result would have been different, and

a reasonable probability is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 129, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990).

C. Facts of record relevant to this argument

The postconviction court made the following clearly erroneous findings unsupported by the record:

■ "The theory of defense was that [A.B.] committed suicide and that [Brooks] did not physically shoot her." (110:19).

The record shows that the theory of defense was this: "Brooks did not cause A.B.'s death, did not kill A.B., and is not responsible for A.B.'s death. A.B. killed herself because she was unstable and depressed and Brooks abused her mentally/verbally when she was in that state." ((144: 13-14) (counsel's summary: "The theory if the defense was that Mr. Brooks' wife Anita had a history of clinical depression and that there were serious marital problems and that Mr. Brooks was engaged shortly before [A.B.'s] death in a course of mentally abusive conduct . . . and that she took her own life."); 48, 50 (theory was: "not responsible for" wife's death "despite" the fact that he knew she was unstable and yet did "increasing things in order to cause – to become more unstable")).

■ Counsel were not deficient because "... there is no way anyone . . . can eliminate the risk of jurors taking something the wrong way. To assert . . . that somehow any attorney should be able to eliminate the risk that another individual who is 1 of 12 that he has to reach a unanimous verdict . . . might or might not interpret or perceive an argument or a word in one way or another

ignored human nature;" and not deficient "... with regard to the strategies employed by the defense attorneys in this matter ... they did the best with what they had." (144: 116-118).

The following facts are supported by the record.

Brooks knew and insisted that he did not shoot A.B. and did not feel responsible for her death, and above all sought acquittal of homicide. (144:12, 31, 47) (App. 22, 41, 53).

The repeatedly defense stated that Brooks' "despicable" abuse "pushed [the unstable A.B.] over the edge" to suicide. (See e.g. 141:49 (closing); 136:76-81 (opening narrative); 144: 13-15, 17-25 (explaining choice of the "theory/story/theme" that Brooks' abuse "had pushed [the depressed A.B.] over the edge" to suicide); 48-50; App. 23-25, 27-35, 54-56)). This "story," or "theme," was chosen because counsels believed it supported innocence of homicide, while embracing the bad "facts beyond change:" of Brooks' mean abuse of A.B. ((144: 17-18, 21; App. 27-28, 31) (testifying such story addressed the unavoidable "bad facts" of Brooks' "conduct which caused the victim to become more and more unstable," allowed "connection" with jury); (144:50; App. 56) (stating such story "was the best way to be able to acknowledge those ["despicable"] things and still make a credible argument that he should not be held responsible for her death.")).

Counsels believed that admitting that Brooks' "despicable" abuse "pushed" his depressed wife "over the edge" to suicide -- hereafter referred to as "the Strategy" -- would *not* admit or concede that Brooks caused Anita's death or was responsible for it. ((144:29; App. 39) (counsel admits "not believing" "that the jury instruction on reckless homicide

[combined with claiming that Brooks pushed A.B. over the edge to suicide] "afforded" the possibility of conviction of reckless homicide); (144:37; App. 47) (not believing presenting the Strategy communicated that Brooks "caused" A.B. to "kill herself"); (144:48-50; App. 54-56) (disagreeing that such "story" could "encourage" the jurors to find Brooks guilty of "any degree of homicide" or make Brooks "responsible for" the death)).

Counsel believed that, under the law, "pushing someone over the edge" to suicide by abuse could *not* constitute homicide, so she never "worried" that the Strategy would facilitate a (reckless) homicide conviction:

... I didn't think that's how the jury would see it. The issue in the case was who fired the fatal shot. . . And I did not view that that would be what the jury considered and I did not believe that the jury instructions supported that as given by the Court would support [sic.] any view of the evidence that simply being mean to somebody and kind of setting off an internal set of depression would be -- make the person cause another human being's death.

(144:23-24; App. 33-34) (emphasis added). (See also 144:25, 29; App. 35, 39).

One counsel testified to some worry that the jury would "take [the Strategy] the wrong way" and conclude that Brooks was responsible for A.B.'s death. (144:55, 59-60; App. 61, 65-66). He thought that his attempt to get the jury instructed on assisting suicide, (22, Proposed Jury Instructions), probably stemmed from such worry:

... it's an instruction that I know I attempted to craft . . . And specifically there is language in there that says -- . . . "Encouragement of suicide without further assistance by Keith brooks is not a crime. 'Assistance' means that Keith brooks in some method or manner helped or aided [A.B.] to commit suicide."

... I can only assume based on that that it had something to do with the possibility that the jury might take [the Strategy] the wrong way. But I will say that I do recall some discussion that I had with Attorney Vishny. I believe we also had them with [Mr. Brooks] to the effect that it was -- it was a pretty far out there theory. It was very unlikely. But I suspect that we probably did that [proposed instruction on assisted suicide] as a safeguard...

(144:55-56; App. 61-62). (See also 144:58; App. 64).

Concern that "the jury might take it the wrong way" was concern "[t]hat the jury might use [the Strategy] as some sort of admission that [Brooks] was in fact guilty of this." (144:56; App. 62).

Counsel thought they had discussed with Brooks the risk that "the jury would take [the Strategy] the wrong way," as an admission of guilt of homicide or responsibility for A.B.'s death. (144:60; App. 66). Counsel opined that Brooks accepted the Strategy "because as we explained it to him, this was really the only way we were gonna be able to maintain credibility with the jury in advance of our theory of defense [of suicide]." (144:57; App. 63).⁶

The lesser included reckless homicide jury instruction was proposed by the defense, as an attempt to limit Brooks' prison exposure, if there were to be a conviction. Counsels did not believe that giving such jury instruction would

⁶ Trial transcripts show that counsel sought the excerpt from J.I. 1195 to mitigate the risk of a guilty verdict of homicide for "encouraging Ms. Brooks to commit suicide, and obviously there was a concern that without a clear statement that this is not against the law to encourage suicide, that the jury might come back and somehow find him guilty of [homicide] based solely on the fact that he encouraged her to commit suicide." (144:87-88; App. 87-88).

facilitate a homicide conviction. (144:24-25, 29, 63-64, 70-72; App. 34-35, 39, 69-70, 76-78). The unmodified instruction was given. (141:18-21).

To sum up:

- 1. Counsels crafted and implemented the Strategy because they felt it made them credible (by embracing the "bad facts") and was "consistent with innocence" of homicide, Brooks' prime goal.
- 2. Counsels did not believe that the Strategy might precipitate a homicide conviction, even of reckless homicide.
- 3. Counsels understood the law to be this: *de jure* homicide (including reckless) cannot be committed by verbally and/or mentally abusing someone, even if such abuse contributes to the death by "pushing" the already-depressed deceased "over the edge to suicide," as in this case.
- 4. With that understanding of the law, counsels concluded that the standard reckless homicide jury instruction correctly and sufficiently stated the law, and required no clarifying or limiting amendments or additions tailored to the facts of this case and Brooks' goals.

Brooks knew and asserted that he did not kill his wife nor was responsible for her death, and sought acquittal of homicide. (144:83-85, 90-91; App.83-85, 90-91).

Brooks felt, and told counsels, that presenting the Strategy -- admitting that he "pushed" his wife "over the edge to suicide" -- was "almost like pleading" or "a quasi confession to killing [his] wife." (144:86-87, 96; App. 86-87,

96). To Brooks it sounded like admitting to homicide, "as if I was responsible for her death." (144: 90; App. 90). ⁷

Counsels did not warn Brooks of any risks of the Strategy. ((144:90; App. 90) (Brooks' testimony); 18-22, 27, App. 28-32, 37 (counsel's testimony)). Brooks never consented to any defense action that would make a homicide conviction more likely. (144: 91; App. 91). He accepted counsels' choice of the Strategy based on their explanations. (144:92; App. 91).

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