RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-30-2018

COURT OF APPEAL **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP1723-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KEITH J. BROOKS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE STEPHANIE ROTHSTEIN, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Even a cursory review of the record disproves this claim. This was a seven-day jury trial. (See R.137-144.) The State produced 22 witnesses including police officers, medical examiners. forensic and experts, character witnesses. The defense vigorously cross-examined every witness. The defense also put forth its own experts and character witnesses that directly refuted the State's theory of the case. (See R.140:144-203; 141:173-234; 142:32-68.) And the defense gave a lengthy and comprehensive closing argument emphasizing the evidence that they believed proved Anita committed suicide. (R.143:49-80.) Under no

reasonable view of the record can it be said that Brooks' attorneys "fail[ed] to subject the prosecution's case to meaningful adversarial testing." *Cronic*, 466 U.S. at 659.

Nor can Brooks show prejudice under *Strickland*. As explained, this was a multi-day jury trial with an enormous amount of witnesses. There were over 150 exhibits introduced at trial. The State put forth particularly damning testimony from three expert medical examiners who had been involved in Anita's autopsy, all of whom said that she could not have committed suicide. There was overwhelming evidence against Brooks. Even if his attorneys had somehow "otherwise ensure[d]" that the jury was specifically instructed that suicide resulting from mental and verbal abuse could not constitute reckless homicide, Brooks has fallen fall short of showing that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694.

II. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has already rejected Brooks' argument that the standard jury instruction on reasonable doubt impermissibly lowers the State's burden of proof, and therefore all Brooks' claims about the instruction fail.

The standard Wisconsin jury instruction on reasonable doubt, Wis. JI—Criminal 140, states,

The term "reasonable doubt" means a doubt based upon reason and common sense. It is a doubt for which a reason can be given, arising from a fair and rational consideration of the evidence or lack of evidence. It means such a doubt as would cause a person of ordinary prudence to pause or hesitate when called upon to act in the most important affairs of life.

A reasonable doubt is not a doubt which is based on mere guesswork or speculation. A doubt

which arises merely from sympathy or from fear to return a verdict of guilt is not a reasonable doubt. A reasonable doubt is not a doubt such as may be used to escape the responsibility of a decision.

While it is your duty to give the defendant the benefit of every reasonable doubt, you are not to search for doubt. You are to search for the truth.

Brooks claims that telling the jurors that they are "not search for doubt" but "to search for the truth" to impermissibly "allowed the jurors erroneously to conclude that the State's burden of proof is lower than 'beyond a and allows conviction even when reasonable doubt' reasonable doubt exists." (Brooks' Br. 25 (emphasis omitted).) He claims that he was therefore deprived of due process of law under In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970).

Ordinarily, the question of whether a jury instruction properly states the law is one this Court would review de novo. *State v. Neumann*, 179 Wis. 2d 687, 699, 508 N.W.2d 54 (Ct. App. 1993). However, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has already considered and rejected Brooks' exact challenge to Wis. JI—Criminal 140. *State v. Avila*, 192 Wis. 2d 870, 887-90, 532 N.W.2d 423 (1995), overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Gordon, 2003 WI 69, ¶ 5, 262 Wis. 2d 380, 663 N.W.2d 765.

In *Avila*, the defendant claimed that the search for the truth language deprived him of due process because "a juror acting reasonably would be reasonably likely to impose a lesser burden than reasonable doubt upon the State," because "finding doubt would not mean finding the truth." *Avila*, 192 Wis. 2d at 888-89. The Wisconsin Supreme Court analyzed the instruction as a whole and observed that "[t]hroughout, the instruction underscores that the defendant is presumed innocent and the State bears the burden of proving the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* at 889. After a meticulous review of the language

of the instruction, the court held that "[i]n the context of the entire instruction, we conclude that Wis. JI—Criminal 140 (1991) . . . did not dilute the State's burden of proving guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* at 890.

Additionally, the part of the pattern instruction directing the jury to look for truth rather than doubt was approved in two published opinions from this Court before Brooks' trial in January 2014. See State v. Cooper, 117 Wis. 2d 30, 36-37, 344 N.W.2d 194 (Ct. App. 1983); State v. Bembenek, 111 Wis. 2d 617, 642, 331 N.W.2d 616 (Ct. App. 1983).

Brooks acknowledges that Avila exists, but claims that its holding is "empirically disproven"¹² by two law review articles from 2016 and 2017. (See Brooks' Br. 26-27 (citing Michael D. Cicchini & Lawrence T. White, Truth or Doubt? An Empirical Test of Criminal Jury Instructions, 50 U. of Rich. L. Rev. 1139 (2016), and Michael D. Cicchini & Lawrence T. White, Testing the Impact of Criminal Jury Instructions on Verdicts: A Conceptual Replication, 117 Colum. L. Rev. Online 22 (2017)).) He asks this Court to therefore "take judicial notice" of the articles' empirical data and vacate his convictions. (Brooks' Br. 29, 32.) Judicial notice or not, this Court is bound by Avila, Cooper, and Bembenek, and cannot overrule or disregard them. Cook v. Cook, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 189-90, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997) (the supreme court is the only state court with the power to overrule, modify, or withdraw language from a previous supreme court or published court of appeals opinion). This Court cannot vacate Brooks' convictions on a legal premise that the supreme court has expressly rejected.

¹² Brooks' Br. 28.

In the alternative, Brooks asks this Court to certify to the Wisconsin Supreme Court the issue of whether *Avila* should be revisited in light of the articles. (Brooks' Br. 32.) But the articles on which he relies are inconsistent with controlling Wisconsin law, and the empirical studies conducted for the purpose of supporting the premise of the article are scientifically flawed. Certification based on these articles would be inappropriate.

A. The articles on which Brooks relies assert positions that are inconsistent with controlling law and are scientifically flawed.

1. The 2016 article.

The first article on which Brooks relies contends that "tacking on" to an instruction on reasonable doubt a direction to search for truth rather than doubt is confusing. Cicchini & White, *supra*, at 1143-45.

But the instruction is only confusing to those who are searching for confusion. The instruction plainly advises jurors that they are to search for the truth rather than for doubt, but that if their search is inconclusive and leaves them with a reasonable doubt about what may or may not be true, they are to give the defendant the benefit of that doubt. Wis. JI—Criminal 140.

As the article acknowledges, truth and doubt are separate concepts. Truth is what happened. See Mayo, 301 Wis. 2d 642, ¶ 32. Doubt is uncertainty about what happened. See Manna v. State, 179 Wis. 384, 400, 192 N.W. 160 (1923). Being uncertain about what actually happened may be intellectually unsatisfying but it is not conceptually confusing.

The instruction does not portray the reasonable doubt standard as a means of hiding the truth. Reasonable doubt is

not treated as a means, but as an end. The instruction properly depicts reasonable doubt as a conclusion that the truth cannot be found with sufficient certainty to warrant a conviction.

The article faults the instruction for suggesting that searching for doubt about the truth is inconsistent with searching for the truth. Cicchini & White, *supra*, at 1144. But they are inconsistent. Attempting to find what the truth is not is the opposite of attempting to find what the truth is. *See Manna*, 179 Wis. at 400.

Reasonably understood, the instruction does not suggest that there is anything inconsistent about searching for the truth but not finding it. It does not suggest that there is anything inconsistent about searching for the truth but finding a reasonable doubt as to what the truth is.

The article asserts that urging the jury to find the truth lowers the State's burden of proof. Cicchini & White, *supra*, at 1144-45.

To the extent that, in the abstract, an unadorned directive to find the truth may suggest a finding by a preponderance of the evidence, any such suggestion is dispelled by concrete instructions that the truth must be found beyond a reasonable doubt. *United States v. Gonzalez-Balderas*, 11 F.3d 1218, 1223 (5th Cir. 1994). That is why the supreme court expressly rejected the contention that the instruction on finding truth reduces the burden of proof. *Avila*, 192 Wis. 2d at 887-90.

According to the article, practicing defense lawyers contend that trials are not about searching for the truth. Cicchini & White, *supra*, at 1145-47. But the courts disagree. *E.g.*, *Nix v. Whiteside*, 475 U.S. 157, 166, 171, 174 (1986) (the very nature of a trial is a search for the truth); *Tehan v. United States ex rel. Shott*, 382 U.S. 406, 416 (1966) (the basic purpose of a trial is the determination of truth); *State* v. McClaren, 2009 WI 69, $\P\P$ 5, 49, 318 Wis. 2d 739, 767 N.W.2d 550 (ascertainment of the truth is the primary objective of a trial); State v. Scott, 2000 WI App 51, \P 29, 234 Wis. 2d 129, 608 N.W.2d 753 (the search for truth is the highest priority at a trial); State v. Watkins, 40 Wis. 2d 398, 405, 162 N.W.2d 48 (1968) ("a criminal trial is a search for the truth, not a sporting game in which one side tries to outwit the other"); United States v. Harper, 662 F.3d 958, 961 (7th Cir. 2011) ("trials are searches for the truth; the burden of proof is just a device to allocate the risk of error between the parties").

The fact that some rules of evidence may exclude evidence that criminal defendants would like to present does not pervert the trial from a purpose to search for the truth. Indeed, the stated purpose of the rules is ascertaining the truth to secure a just determination. Wis. Stat. § 901.02; Fed. R. Evid. 102.

For example, some evidence, such as hearsay, is excluded because it is unreliable, and therefore does not further the search for truth. See State v. Myren, 133 Wis. 2d 430, 437, 395 N.W.2d 818 (1986). Some evidence is excluded because its probative value, i.e., its value for determining truth, is outweighed by its potential for prejudice, i.e., its tendency to divert the jury from a search for the truth. See State v. Payano, 2009 WI 86, ¶ 89, 320 Wis. 2d 348, 768 N.W.2d 832. In addition, some evidence is excluded because its use would adversely impact other important societal values. For example, the exclusionary rule enjoins the government from benefitting from evidence it has obtained unlawfully. United States v. Crews, 445 U.S. 463, 475 (1980). Evidentiary privileges, such as the attorney-client privilege, are designed to encourage important communications. See State ex rel. Dudek v. Circuit Court for Milwaukee County, 34 Wis. 2d 559, 578-79, 150 N.W.2d 387 (1967). Some privileges are designed to prevent vulnerable persons from

being victimized by the legal system. See State v. Gilbert, 109 Wis. 2d 501, 505-06, 326 N.W.2d 744 (1982).

It is a fallacy to suggest that trials are not a search for truth just because society recognizes legitimate reasons to put reasonable restrictions on the search for truth.

The article asserts that the jury's job is not to try to find the truth. Cicchini & White, *supra*, at 1147. But if the purpose of a trial is to find the truth, as numerous cases have stated, then the job of the jury, as finder of fact, is to find the truth.

The article asserts that most courts admit that "truthrelated mandates are not consistent with the examination of evidence for reasonable doubt." Cicchini & White, *supra*, at 1147. Although the article cites one or two cases from other jurisdictions that might support such a proposition, as discussed above, the courts of this state have rejected the contention that the pattern Wisconsin instruction misstates the law regarding reasonable doubt. *Avila*, 192 Wis. 2d at 887-90; *Cooper*, 117 Wis. 2d at 36-37; *Bembenek*, 111 Wis. 2d at 642; *Manna*, 179 Wis. at 399-400. *Accord Harper*, 662 F.3d at 960-61.

The study conducted for the purpose of supporting the premise of the article is also scientifically flawed for several reasons, the first of which is that it was biased from the start. The authors were not searching for truth. They were not looking to see what effect various instructions might have in a mock trial situation. Instead, they were searching for evidence to back their contention, well-established in the preceding legal section of the article, that an instruction that urges jurors to search for truth will lead to more convictions than an instruction that urges jurors to search for doubt. Cicchini & White, *supra*, at 1150. This initial bias likely affected both the way the study was conducted and the way the results were construed.

Second, jurors should be randomly drawn from a fair cross-section of the community. *Brown v. State*, 58 Wis. 2d 158, 163, 205 N.W.2d 566 (1973). But the mock jurors in the article's study were not drawn from anything resembling a fair cross-section. Rather, they were recruited from Amazon Mechanical Turk. Cicchini & White, *supra*, at 1150.

Wikipedia describes Amazon Mechanical Turk as a crowdsourcing Internet marketplace where employers are able to post jobs involving human intelligence tasks. https://en.Wikipedia.org/wiki/Amazon_Mechanical_Turk#Soc ial_science_experiments. Prospective employees can browse among the jobs posted and take a job they select in return for a monetary payment. Although this Internet marketplace is capable of recruiting a diverse sample, it is not that good at recruiting a representative sample of the population as a whole. This limited self-selection is the antithesis of random sampling, which is the foundation of valid empirical research, as well as fair and impartial juries.

In addition, there is nothing to suggest that the participants were screened for preconceived ideas or otherwise were incentivized to provide unbiased answers. The fact that participants are paid for their services provides an incentive to give the answers they think that the employers want to hear. Moreover, real jurors, while selected randomly, are subjected to voir dire, where those with preconceived ideas about a case can be identified and, if necessary, excused. The Turkers, as they are called, who participated in the jury instructions job were never examined to determine whether they had any preconceived notions that might have made it problematical for them to perform fairly and impartially the job they chose, and were paid, to do.

The article provides little information about the facts that the participants were asked to consider. The article just states generally that the defendant was alleged to have touched a teenage girl's buttocks over her clothing for the purpose of sexual arousal or gratification. Cicchini & White, *supra*, at 1151. The only evidence presented to the participants, the brief written summary of the testimony of the child, her mother, and the defendant is not included in the article.

But regardless of what anyone had to say about the facts, this sort of scenario readily lends itself to decision on the basis of preconceived notions about sexual assault. Undoubtedly, there are some in contemporary American society who view the act of grabbing a female outside her clothing as falling somewhere on a range between harmless and offensive, but, importantly, not criminal. The methodology of the study does not account for participants who may have shared this attitude.

Furthermore, in situations where the word of one person is pitted against the word of another person, the credibility of the witnesses is critical in arriving at a just result. Yet, those who chose to participate in the study had no means of assessing the credibility of either the victim or the defendant from the brief abstract of their testimony on a printed page.

"The credibility of a witness is determined by more than [the] witness's words." *State v. Turner*, 186 Wis. 2d 277, 285, 521 N.W.2d 148 (Ct. App. 1994). "Tonal quality, volume and speech patterns all give clues to whether a witness is telling the truth." *Turner*, 186 Wis. 2d at 285. Thus, it is critical for each juror, whether real or mock, "to hear the testimony from each witness and relate that testimony to the witness's demeanor." *Turner*, 186 Wis. 2d at 285.

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